ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Robert E. Hood., Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUN 07 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Trial Court Case No.: 2014-GS-40-0752
2014-GS-40-0754
2014-GS-40-0755
2014-GS-40-0756

Appellate Case No.: 2014-002771

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- i. Did the Trial Court abuse its discretion in denying Defendant Barnes' Motions to Sever after being presented with knowledge that Codefendant Young's presence would result in limiting Counsel's cross-examination of a material witness and in admitting nontestimonial confessions of the unavailable Codefendant Young that also inculcate Defendant Barnes?
- ii. Did the Trial Court err in admitting testimony from Alfred Wright and Michael Schaefer pursuant to South Carolina Rule of Evidence 804(b)(3), when such testimony included non-testimonial confessions of Co-Defendant Young that also inculpated Appellant Barnes?
- iii. Under the law set forth in *Bruton v. United States* and *Crawford v. Washington*, are state courts provided flexibility in determining whether Confrontation Clause rights are triggered by nontestimonial confessions of unavailable declarants?
- iv. Pursuant to SCRE 613, did the Trial Court err in admitting audio evidence of an inconsistent prior statement denied by Latoya Barnes two days after she was excused, and without offering remedy to recall her for the opportunity of explanation and cross-examination?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In the matter of The State of South Carolina vs. Lorenzo Young and Trenton Barnes, the named Defendants were jointly tried and convicted of murder, kidnapping, burglary, and attempted armed robbery, the respective indictment numbers for Appellant Trenton Barnes being 2014-GS-40-752, 754, 755, and 756. (R. pp. 114, lines 24-25 through R. pp. 115, lines 1-3.) These charges were made in relation to the incidents occurring on July 1, 2013, wherein a Ms. Kelly Lynn Hunnewell died from a single gunshot wound. A Mr. Troy Stevenson was also charged with these crimes, but was not jointly tried with Mr. Young and Appellant Barnes.

Pretrial hearings were held on October 30, 2013, November 3, 2013, and on the day of trial, before opening statements began. Appellant's trial began on November 10, 2014 and concluded on November 19th, 2014. Trenton Barnes was represented at trial by Mark Schnee, and Defendant Young was separately represented by Tracy Pinnock, Stephen Krzyston, and Jacqueline Bambach. Representing the State were Assistant Solicitors Dolly Garfield, Kathryn Luck Campbell, and Nicole Simpson. Presiding over the trial was the Honorable Judge Robert Hood.

Having timely filed a Notice of Appeal on December 22, 2014, Appellant now seeks reversal and remand of all of the above mentioned November 19th convictions.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On a rainy July 1, 2013, at approximately 3:41am, three individuals were present at an attempted robbery of the Carolina Cafe Bakery located at 93 Tommy Circle, Columbia. (R. p. 226, lines 4-17; R. p. 696, lines 21-24; State's Exhibit 323, 324). Video surveillance evidence admitted at trial showed that two of the individuals, armed with guns, went into the bakery. (State's Exhibit 323, 324). The third individual was filmed approaching the open door a few moments after the other two entered. (State's Exhibit 323). During the robbery attempt, six

rounds of ammunition were fired, and as a result thirty-three year old Kelly Lynn Hunnewell was shot once in the upper chest and died from her wound. (R. p. 597, lines 3-16). On July 5, 2013, Appellant Trenton Barnes and Defendant Lorenzo Young were arrested separately and charged with the murder of Kelly Lynn Hunnewell, along with kidnapping, burglary, and attempted armed robbery.

At trial, a total of 381 exhibits were entered into evidence by the State against Defendant Young and Appellant Barnes. These exhibits covered a gamut of circumstantial evidence and direct evidence, including but not limited to: video surveillance, ammunition, fired projectiles, photographs, DNA swabs, personal correspondence, handwriting samples, cell phones, cell phone records and video, written confessions, clothing, latent prints, and audio recordings. There was also a substantial amount of witness testimony put forth by the State. The witnesses included family members, informants, law enforcement officers, police investigators, jailhouse snitches, and experts in the fields of ballistics, DNA, and handwriting analysis. Both Defendant Young and Appellant exercised their right not to testify on their own behalf at trial. (R. pp. 838-843).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” *State v. Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (S.C. 2006). A motion for severance is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court. *State v. Tucker*, 324 S.C. 155, 478 S.E.2d 260, 263 (S.C. 1996). The trial court's ruling will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion. *Id.* at 269. An abuse of discretion occurs when a trial court's decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law. *State v. Lopez*, 352 S.C. 373, 378, 574 S.E.2d 210 (Ct.App.2002). An appellate court should not reverse a conviction achieved at a joint trial in the

absence of a reasonable probability that the defendant would have obtained a more favorable result at a separate trial. *Hughes v. State*, 346 S.C. 554, 559, 552 S.E.2d 315 (2001).

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court abused its discretion in denying Defendant Barnes' motion for severance.

The trial rights of Appellant Barnes were compromised by the Court's failure to grant Defendant Barnes' motion for severance. As such, the Court abused its discretion in the matter and Appellant is entitled to reversal and remand for new trial

Criminal defendants who are jointly tried for murder are not entitled to separate trials as a matter of right. *State v. Kelsey*, 331 S.C. 50, 502 S.E.2d 63, 73 (S.C. 1998); However, severance should be granted "when there is a serious risk that a joint trial would compromise a specific trial right of a codefendant or prevent the jury from making a reliable judgment about a codefendant's guilt." *State v. Walker*, 366 S.C. 643, 657, 623 S.E.2d 122, 129 (S.C.Ct.App.2005). Additionally, the compromised trial right or unreliable judgment by the jury must constitute prejudice against the Defendant before the Appellate Court will reverse a conviction. *Hughes v. State*, 346 S.C. 554, 559, 552 S.E.2d 315 (S.C. 2001). Finally, "a motion for severance is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court." *Tucker*, at 263. An abuse of discretion occurs when a trial court's decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law. *Lopez*, at 378. Finally, "there can be no clearly defined rule for determining when a defendant is entitled to a separate trial, because the exercise of discretion means that the decision must be based upon a just and proper consideration of the particular circumstances which are presented to the court in each case." *State v. Walker*, 623 S.E.2d 122, 129 366 S.C. 643 (S.C.Ct.App. 2005). Nevertheless, if the Court is presented with information that would demonstrate a *serious risk* of compromised

trial rights or interference with the jury judging the guilt of a defendant, severance should be granted to preserve the rights of the accused.

In the case at hand, numerous motions to sever were requested of the Trial Court. Mr. Schnee, serving as trial counsel for Trenton Barnes, moved for severance on the basis that the anticipated evidence and trial rights of Barnes and Young are antagonistic to each other, and that evidence, which would only be admissible against Defendant Young, was allowed to inculcate Mr. Barnes. (R. p. 165, line 1 through p. 169, line 3; R. p. 208, line 23 through p. 212, line 10; R. p. 834, lines 19-22; R. p. 1026, lines 5-20.) These motions were all denied and the Defendants were required to proceed jointly despite the substantial risk and ultimate compromise of their trial rights.

The first anticipated risk and compromise of trial rights occurred during the testimony of Rolanda Coleman. Trial counsel for Defendant Barnes, moved for severance on the basis that he would be limited in his cross-examination of Rolanda Coleman. She shared criminal charges with Codefendant Young which cannot be discussed without violating Young's rights against evidence of prior bad acts.(R. p. 208, line 23 through p. 209, line 4). This is important to the impeachment of Ms. Coleman because she potentially harbors extreme bias in her testimony, as she is also the girlfriend of Young, and the mother of their two infant children. Her inclination to protect her children's' father would otherwise be impeachable if not for his presence as a Codefendant. S.C. R. Evid. 404(b). The Court explicitly forbid trial counsel from delving into the shared burglary charge, any details thereto, or any motivation she may have to lie as a result. (R. p. 208, line 23 through p. 212, line 10). According to Schnee, by the Court's own recognition, such information would likely be admissible if not for Young being tried jointly. (R. p. 211, line 16 through p. 212, line 3). The Court did not contest that recollection of in-chambers discussion.

This is a prime example of how Mr. Barnes trial rights were compromised at the expense of protecting the trial rights of a codefendant.

This is precisely the type of compromised trial rights that the standard set forth in *Walker* contemplates as necessary to warrant a motion for severance. *State v. Walker*, 366 S.C. 643, 657, 623 S.E.2d 122, 129 (S.C.Ct.App.2005) Appellant should have his full opportunity to impeach the credibility of a witness that speaks against him, demonstrate the bias that witness may hold, and thereby defend against the evidence the witness may have levied against him. Ms. Coleman is the only witness who claims to have seen Trenton with a gun, and is one of the few sources of identification testimony against Mr. Barnes, as she was somehow able to recognize Appellant in the brief video footage based on his stature and "gray hoodie". (R. p. 301, line 6 through p. 303, line 24; R. p. 312, lines 7-17). It bares mentioning that she could not recognize her own boyfriend using the same criteria. (R. p. 312, lines 18-25). Lastly, and in further error, the Trial Court allowed Ms. Coleman, on multiple occasions, to provide hearsay testimony of information provided to her from Codefendant Young. (R. p. 292, line 23 through 296, line 25; R. p. 298, line 23 through p. 299, line 13). As Codefendant Young never testified, Appellant was denied an opportunity to cross-examine a witness against him. These numerous aspects of Ms. Coleman's testimony cast doubt upon the jury's ability to make a reliable judgment as to Trenton Barnes' guilt; this prejudiced Mr. Barnes, both in hindering his ability to cross-examine witnesses, as well as by providing tainted evidence to the jury.

In addition to the prejudice caused by Ms. Coleman's testimony, the testimony of Alfred Wright and Michael Schaefer also infringed upon the trial rights of Appellant Barnes. Both witnesses were allowed to inculcate Appellant via the retelling of Codefendant Young's jailhouse confessions. Given that Codefendant Young did not testify, Appellant was left without a means of cross-examining the testimony against him. This is the manner of compromised trial right and

tainting of the judgment of the jury which is discussed by the Supreme Court in *Bruton v. United States*. *Bruton v. United States*, 391 U.S. 123, 88 S.Ct. 1620, 20 L.Ed.2d 476 (1968).

Counsel argues, in opposition to current court interpretations, that *Bruton* and *Crawford* leave room for nontestimonial Confrontation Clause rights. (infra, Argument III). However, the presence of a "*Bruton* issue" is not *necessary* in order to meet the standard for granting a motion for severance. It bears repeating that the standard for granting severance is that only a "serious risk" be posed to a defendant's trial rights or the jury's ability to judge guilt. *Walker*, at 129. The Trial Court should have granted severance after being informed of the testimonial dangers of Ms. Coleman, Mr. Wright, and Mr. Schaefer. In consideration of the substantial prejudices that resulted against Trenton Barnes, the Trial Court abused its discretion in denying counsel's motions for severance.

II. Codefendant Young's jailhouse confessions to Wright and Schaefer, which inculpated Appellant Barnes, were improperly admitted under Rule 804(b)(3).

The Court erred in allowing hearsay testimony from Alfred Wright and Michael Schaefer which inculpated Appellant Barnes. This error of law rose well above harmless error and warrants a new trial.

South Carolina Rule of Evidence 804(b)(3) provides admissibility for "a statement which was at the time of its making so far contrary to the declarant's pecuniary or proprietary interest, or so far tended to subject the declarant to civil or criminal liability, or to render invalid a claim by the declarant against another, that a reasonable person in the declarant's position would not have made the statement unless believing it to be true." S.C. R. Evid. 804(b)(3). This rule was in dispute multiple times during the course of Appellant Barnes' trial. The Trial Court permitted Alfred Wright and Michael Schaefer to testify pursuant to this exception over the repeated

objections of counsel as being hearsay not covered by exception. (R. p, pg 450, lines 1-14; R. p. 454, lines 21-25; R. p. 554, lines 2-6).

There is no dispute that this evidence would have been admissible against Codefendant Young in a separate trial. However, there are no grounds for admissibility against Appellant Barnes, and consequently the testimony, as offered, is inadmissible. Three major cases provide the basis for this argument. If *Bruton* and *Crawford* do in fact restrict Sixth Amendment rights to testimonial confessions only, which Appellant argues is improper (*infra*), then the holdings of *Lilly v. Virginia*, *Williamson v. United States*, and *State v. Fuller* provide a collective reasoning for finding the 804(b)(3) evidence against Appellant Barnes inadmissible.

In *Lilly*, a family member of the defendant named Mark made statements to police that inculpated the defendant. *Lilly v. Virginia*, 527 U.S. 116, 119 S.Ct. 1887, 144 L.Ed.2d 117 (1999). Mark was called as a witness, but plead the Fifth when questioned. The prosecution sought to inter his statements to police on the basis that they were admissible as declarations of an unavailable witness against penal interest. The Court in *Lilly* ruled that even when a statement against interest is made that inculpates a criminal defendant, it cannot be introduced against the defendant without an opportunity for cross examination. *Id.* The Court states that "In the years since *Bruton* was decided, we have reviewed a number of cases in which one defendant's confession has been introduced in evidence in a joint trial pursuant to instructions that it could be used against him but not against his codefendant." *Id.* "[W]e have consistently either stated or assumed that the mere fact that one accomplice's confession qualified as a statement against his penal interest did not justify its use as evidence against another person." *Id.* (citing *Gray v. Maryland*, 523 U.S. 185, 194, 195 (1998)). As a result, we see that the application of 804(b)(3) carries with it the same concerns demonstrated in *Bruton*, and that such hearsay cannot be applied against a codefendant.

Williamson, provided a similar circumstance of confession to law enforcement. However, in *Williamson*, the Court ruled strictly on the application of 804(b)(3), without reaching the question of Sixth Amendment rights. *Williamson v. United States*, 512 U.S. 594, 114 S.Ct. 2431, 129 L.Ed.2d 476 (1994); *Lilly v. Virginia*, 527 U.S. 116, 119 S.Ct. 1887, 144 L.Ed.2d 117 (1999). The Court found that:

"Rule 804(b)(3) is founded on the commonsense notion that reasonable people, even reasonable people who are not especially honest, tend not to make self-inculpatory statements unless they believe them to be true. This notion simply does not extend to the broader definition of "statement." The fact that a person is making a broadly self-inculpatory confession does not make more credible the confession's non-self-inculpatory parts. One of the most effective ways to lie is to mix falsehood with truth, especially truth that seems particularly persuasive because of its self-inculpatory nature." *Williamson v. United States*, 512 U.S. 594, 114 S.Ct. 2431, 129 L.Ed.2d 476 (1994).

As it pertains to the circumstances of Appellant Barnes, it is reasonable to trust the portions of Wright and Schaefer's testimony that inculcate Young, as he is the declarant. It is not however, reasonable to trust the portions that inculcate Trenton Barnes, as such utterances do not make the confession more credible based on theory of the 804(b)(3) exception. It is this decision that marks the Court's acknowledgment that 804(b)(3) admissibility is limited to the declarant codefendant, based solely on the Rules of Evidence.

The Supreme Court of South Carolina, in *State v. Fuller*, handled a very similar circumstance to the disputed testimony that inculpated Appellant Barnes. In *Fuller*, a potential co-conspirator to a murder, named McKinney, took the stand and initially made an inculpatory statement against his own interest. Following that statement, he gave hearsay testimony allegedly confessed by a participant in the murder who was deceased at the time of trial. *State v. Fuller*, 523 S.E.2d 168, 337 S.C. 236, 240 (S.C. 1999). According to McKinney, The deceased participant confessed that the defendant, the deceased, and one other individual had committed the murder for which the defendant was being tried. *Id.* at 242. The Supreme Court of South

Carolina deemed the testimony of McKinney to be a non-self-inculpatory (albeit collateral to a self-inculpatory statement) reiteration of a statement by an unavailable declarant that was against the declarant's penal interest. "The hearsay statements recounted by McKinney essentially amounted to statements by a deceased third-party that inculpated Defendant." *Id.* at 243. As such, the Court ruled that such a statement is inherently unreliable, and *inadmissible* under 804(b)(3), or any other exception. This ruling was significant because it demonstrates that "non-testimonial" type confessions are irrelevant to an 804(b)(3) analysis.

Each of the above three rulings from the Supreme Court of South Carolina provided a piece to the puzzle that is the inadmissibility of Young's jailhouse confession. *Lilly* recognizes that a statement against penal interest, admissible against one defendant, "does not justify its use against a codefendant" in the absence of a valid hearsay exception. *Williamson*, most importantly, rendered such hearsay inadmissible without needing to reach the issue of whether Confrontation Clause rights were denied. It also adds to that foundation the fact that "the most faithful reading of Rule 804(b)(3) is that it does not allow admission of non-self-inculpatory statement, even if they are made within the broader narrative that is generally self-inculpatory." *Williamson v. United States*, 512 U.S. 594, 114 S.Ct. 2431, 129 L.Ed.2d 476 (1994). More simply, each individual statement must be evaluated for admissibility, not the collective statement as a whole. Lastly, *Fuller* demonstrates that a statement against penal interest, even one that is nontestimonial, is inadmissible without a separate applicable hearsay exception. The combination of the rulings between *Lilly*, *Williamson*, and *Fuller* demonstrate that non-self-inculpatory, nontestimonial statements from an unavailable declarant cannot be admissible against a codefendant under Rule 804(b)(3). Here, Wright and Schaefer have provided only a non-self-inculpatory statement that reiterates the statements against penal interest made by an

unavailable declarant, Co-Defendant Young. The application of 804(b)(3) in light of these three cases: the testimony inculcating Barnes was inadmissible hearsay.

At the very least, two actions could have been taken. First, a limiting instruction should have been given to the jury after it occurred to try and “unring the bell.” Such a remedy would likely be woefully insufficient, and regardless, the Judge failed to provide such instruction. Second, in line with *Richardson*, the testimony should have been proffered and redacted to protect Appellant's rights. *Richardson v. Marsh*, 481 U.S. 200, 206 (1987). Thus, the full consequence of the legal error was allowed to endure and the jury was irreparably tainted by hearing the multiple confessions of Co-Defendant Young via jailhouse witnesses that provided repeated and detailed inculcation of Appellant Barnes.

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