ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County

Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

MAY 24 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TRENTON MALIK BARNES,

APPELLANT,

Appellate Case No. 2014-002771

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

SUSANNAH R. COLE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 68383

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-0265

DANIEL E. JOHNSON
Solicitor, Fifth Circuit
P.O. Box 192
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 576-1800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County

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

Young's statements to his girlfriend and to the inmates are distinguishable from those of *Williamson* and *Fuller* because the statements were in no way self-exculpatory. It should also be noted in *Williamson* and *Fuller*, the statements were made to police (in the case of *Williamson*), or to a third party but related to the police by an accomplice in a collateral statement (in the case of *Fuller*). When viewed in context, these testimonial statements to law enforcement are less reliable than those made by Young to his girlfriend (or mother) and the inmates in purportedly private conversations. While

statements to law enforcement may be induced by a desire for leniency, Young would expect no such deal from Coleman, Schaeffer, and Wright.

The Statements Were Independently Corroborated

In addition to the inherent indicia of trustworthiness of the statement made against Young's penal interest, the other independent evidence corroborated the reliability of Young's statements to his girlfriend and the inmates. First, multiple witnesses testified Young and Appellant were together late the night before the murder. (R. pp. 542-545.) Appellant's own mother testified the two men were together at her house before leaving later that night, and she sent her son Troy out to look for Appellant following Young's phone call to her house. (R. pp. 388 – 390.) The video surveillance showed two suspects with guns firing at the victim. (R. pp. 831-832.) Two different types of shell casings were found at the scene of the crime. (R. pp. 472-475.) Rolanda Coleman testified she saw Young hiding his gun the following morning, and she identified Appellant in the surveillance video. (R. pp. 284-302.) Young's description of the crime to inmate Dominique Wright matched Appellant's account to his mother: two men attempted to rob the club, but because it was closed decided to rob the woman at the bakery next door -- shooting her when she resisted. (R. pp. 453-458.) Furthermore, inmate Michael Schaefer also testified Young told him a similar story (R. p. 554, lines 10-17.), while inmate Michael Peterson overheard Young and Troy Stevenson discussing the murder in the showers. (R. p. 495, lines 4-13; p. 498, lines 1-25.) Finally, Appellant's own statement corroborated the details of the crime. (R. p. v, State's Exhibit 404.)

The details contained in Young's statements to his girlfriend, mother, and the other inmates were fully corroborated by the evidence at trial: The two men intended to

rob the Ale House, but it was closed. The men chose the bakery because they saw an opportunity. Two men entered the bakery with guns. The victim swung at the men, and the men shot her in return, running from the scene of the crime.

Young's statements qualify as statements against interest under 804(b)(3) because he sufficiently inculpated himself in the same criminal activity as Appellant. Viewed in the context of a conversation with his girlfriend, mother, and inmates, as opposed to a testimonial confession or statement to police, Young had no reason to believe he would incur favor or leniency by making the statement. Though the comments incriminated Appellant as well, other independent evidence corroborated the statements and inculpated Appellant as an accomplice. SCRE 804(b)(3) does not limit the use of a statement only against the party making the statement. Thus, the statements are an exception to the hearsay rule as a statement against interest, and may be offered against the declarant or his co-defendant. Appellant's rights were not prejudiced by the admission of this evidence against Young because the evidence was also properly admissible against Appellant.

II.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in later admitting the audio recording of a telephone call pursuant to SCRE Rule 613(b) when the witness was given notice of the prior inconsistent statement in the form of a transcript, the witness denied making the statement, and Appellant was able to cross examine the witness but elected not to highlight this portion of her testimony. (Appellant's Issue IV)

In his last issue on appeal, Appellant asserts the trial court improperly admitted the audio recording of Ms. Barnes' conversation with Investigator McCoy as extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement pursuant to Rule 613(b). (IBOA p. 17; State's

Exhibit 440) The court concluded that there was no violation of Rule 613(b) because the witness had notice of the statement, was given an opportunity to explain the statement, and denied identifying Appellant as one of the men in the video. Although the State read from a transcript of the statement when Ms. Barnes was on the stand, Appellant chose not to cross examine the witness on this statement. Later, when the audio was admitted through Investigator McCoy, Appellant did not request Ms. Barnes be recalled for additional testimony.

How the Issue Was Presented at Trial

Appellant's mother, Latoya Barnes, was called to the stand and testified Appellant and Young left their home together the night of the murder. (R. p. 387, lines 5-14.) She also described what they were wearing. (R. p. 393, lines 3-13.) Ms. Barnes testified she spoke to Investigator McCoy several weeks later, following the arrest of her sons, and again described what the men were wearing that night, but she denied telling McCoy she recognized Appellant as the man in the grey hoodie in the video. (R. p. 398, line 7 – p. 399, line 18.) The Solicitor read from a transcript of the conversation to impeach Ms. Barnes' claim she did not identify her son to McCoy. (R. p. 399, lines 1-8.) Barnes denied it again. The State moved on to introduce the letter Appellant wrote his mother from jail, which resulted in a protracted argument on its admissibility. (R. pp. 401-421.) Counsel for Young cross-examined Ms. Barnes first; then it was Appellant's opportunity. Appellant broached the subject of the phone call with McCoy, asking Ms. Barnes if McCoy indicated one of her sons would "take a fall" for the murder. (R. p. 431, lines 13-25.) Appellant then went on to question Ms. Barnes about the letter her son sent from prison, asking if Appellant wanted to "protect his older brother." (R. p. 433, lines 1-17.)

Appellant did not cross-examine Ms. Barnes on her statement to McCoy she recognized her son in the video.

Later, when the State attempted to introduce the limited portion of the audio recording while Investigator McCoy was on the stand, Appellant objected, stating, "I had no opportunity to be questioning Ms. Barnes at this point if I even wanted to re-question her about it based on what the actual audio says." (R. p. 684, lines 2-5.) Appellant went on to argue the audio was an admission of "different testimony and new information that [he] clearly did not have any intention on crossing her on... ." (R. p. 684, lines 11-13.)

The court overruled Appellant's objection, stating:

She would have multiple notice about this and she continued to deny it saying that she said that she said that Trenton was the one wearing the grey sweatshirt and she was informed multiple times about the substance of the statement, the time and place it was made, and the person to whom it was made and she was given an opportunity to explain or deny the statement and she denied the statement and it says if the witness does not admit that he has made a prior consistent statement, extrinsic evidence is admissible.

All right. You need to play the portion for him that you want to play, but at this point it's admissible.

(R. p. 684, line 18 – p. 685, line 6.) Appellant did not ask the court to recall Ms. Barnes to the stand.

Analysis

The admission of the audio recording of Ms. Barnes' conversation with Investigator McCoy is governed by Rule 613, which reads:

(b) Extrinsic Evidence of Prior Inconsistent Statement of Witness. Extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement by a witness is not admissible unless the witness is advised of the substance of the statement, the time and place it was allegedly made, and the person to whom it was made, and is given the opportunity to explain or deny the statement. If a witness does not admit that he has made the prior inconsistent statement,

extrinsic evidence of such statement is admissible. However, if a witness admits making the prior statement, extrinsic evidence that the prior statement was made is inadmissible. This provision does not apply to admissions of a party-opponent as defined in Rule 801(d)(2).

SCRE 613(b). The State fully complied with the elements of Rule 613(b) when questioning Ms. Barnes about her conversation with McCoy in August 2013. (R. p. 398, lines 5-19.) The witness testified she remembered the conversation, but when asked if she recalled telling McCoy “Trenton was the one in the video in the gray sweatshirt,” she stated, “I never told him that.” (R. p. 398, lines 7-12.) When the State read from the transcript of the phone conversation, Appellant’s only objection was, “that’s not a valid transcript.” (R. p. 399, lines 1-3.) Appellant did not, at that time, object on the grounds of Rule 613(b), and he elected not to cross-examine Ms. Barnes about that statement while she was on the stand. Nothing in Rule 613(b) requires a party to move the statement into evidence immediately once the notice of its existence has been given.

Further, our courts have addressed this scenario in *State v. Stokes*, 381 S.C. 390, 673 S.E.2d 434(2009), in which the State sought to introduce a statement to law enforcement through the officer and pursuant to Rule 613(b) after the declarant testified.

Although the defendant objected on Confrontation Clause grounds, the Court found:

Thus, it is the opportunity to cross-examine that is constitutionally protected. In the instant case, appellant had that opportunity. It is undisputed Brown appeared at trial, was available for cross-examination, and could have been recalled after the statement was admitted. Instead, appellant's trial counsel chose not to cross-examine on this subject. Although trial counsel apparently decided that such cross-examination would be to appellant's detriment, this does not amount to a violation of appellant's right to confrontation. *See Crawford, supra* (Confrontation Clause implicated only when declarant is unavailable); *California v. Green*, 399 U.S. at 161, 90 S.Ct. 1930 (“none of our decisions interpreting the Confrontation Clause requires excluding the out-of-court statements of a witness who is available and testifying at trial”); *United States v. Owens*,

484 U.S. at 559, 108 S.Ct. 838 (the Confrontation Clause guarantees the opportunity for effective cross-examination, but “not cross-examination that is effective in whatever way, and to whatever extent, the defense might wish”).

Id. at 402-403, 672 S.E.2d at 440. In *Stokes*, the trial court offered to recall the witness for additional cross examination but the defendant declined, not wanting to draw further attention to the testimony. Similarly, in the instant case, Appellant made no mention of recalling Ms. Barnes to the stand. Appellant certainly had the opportunity to cross examine Ms. Barnes on this prior inconsistent statement when she was on the stand and he chose not to do so. Appellant also chose not to ask the court to recall Ms. Barnes after McCoy’s testimony. Moreover, Appellant was not prejudiced the admission of the audio recording because the jury heard the statement when the State read the transcript. According, Appellant cannot show any prejudice from the admission of the document, and his conviction should be affirmed on this ground.

Harmless Error

Even if, as Appellant argues, Young’s statements were admitted in violation of *Bruton*, *Williamson*, and *Fuller*, their admission was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The same is true for the extrinsic evidence of Ms. Barnes’ prior inconsistent statement. In *Chapman v. California*, the Supreme Court held error of even constitutional magnitude may be deemed harmless if, “considering the entire record on appeal, the reviewing court finds beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the verdict.” 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967); *see also Taylor v. State*, 312 S.C. 179, 181, 439 S.E.2d 820, 821 (1993). Similarly, our Supreme Court intimated that any error in the failure to suppress a statement deemed inadmissible hearsay is subject to a harmless error analysis. *State v. Mitchell*, 286 S.C. 572, 336 S.E.2d 150 (1985); *see also State v. Key*,

256 S.C. 90, 180 S.E.2d 888 (1971) (Error is harmless when it “could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.”)

Here, considering the entire record on appeal, any error in admitting Young’s statements was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The State presented compelling evidence of Appellant’s guilt of murder, sufficiently proving Appellant and his co-defendant were the perpetrators of the crime, even without Young’s statements. The State presented the following evidence against the co-defendants:

- Most significantly, Appellant’s letter to his mother fully corroborated the State’s theory of the case and was a confession of Appellant’s role of the murder of Hunnewell (R. p. v, State’s Exhibit 404);
- The bakery’s security cameras revealed two armed perpetrators, one wearing a red hoodie and the other wearing a grey hoodie (R. pp. 828-831);
- .45 G.A.P. and .40 caliber shell casings were found at the scene (R. pp.227-228, 237, 238, 240, 242, 797-799) ;
- Young and Barnes live within walking distance of the bakery (R. p. 394, 642, 698-699);
- Police discovered ammunition of the same caliber at that at the scene of the crime in Young’s home (R. pp. 472-475);
- Police also discovered a Glock magazine in the purse of Rolanda Coleman (R. pp. 470-471);

- Coleman testified Young returned the morning after the murder with his gun, which he attempted to hide in his baby's crib (R. pp. 284, 294-295);
- Coleman identified Appellant in the video as the man in the grey hoodie (R. pp. 301-302);
- Donald Moore overheard Young and Stevenson planning the robbery of the Ale House before the murder (R. p. 378);
- Donald Moore saw Young with a Glock prior to the murder (R. pp. 379-381);
- Donald Moore identified Young in the video as the man wearing the red hoodie (R. pp. 382-383);
- Appellant's own mother placed the three men together the night of the murder (R. p. 399);
- Cell phone records corroborated Ms. Barnes story Young called the house before she sent her son out to find the men (R. pp. 605-606);
- Ms. Barnes testified Young was wearing a red hoodie, Appellant was wearing a grey hoodie, and Stevenson was wearing a dark jacket the night of the murder (R. pp. 391-394);
- Mary Brown also placed the two men together the night of the crime, and described the red and grey hoodies the men were wearing. Brown also recognized the men in the video (R. pp. 542-545);

- Michael Peterson testified Young sought him out in the library to discuss his case and admitted his involvement (R. pp. 487-491);
- Police found gunshot residue on Young's black gloves (R. p. 486);
- and
- DNA found on the spoon Hunnewell used to defend herself could not exclude Appellant and Young (R. p. 243, 582).

The State's case against Appellant was compelling. Indeed, Appellant's own letter to his mother in which he described the killing may have been the most convincing evidence to the jury. Even excluding Young's statements to Coleman and inmates Wright and Schaefer, the record supports the jury's verdict of murder beyond of reasonable doubt. Any error in its admission by the trial court judge was harmless.

In sum, Appellant's right to a fair trial was not violated by the court's refusal to sever the trials. The U.S. Supreme Court has specifically found the admission in a joint trial of a codefendant's statement to police violates the Confrontation Clause. The statements are unreliable because of the likelihood the declarant seeks to obtain a better deal for himself, yet he is unavailable for cross examination in a joint trial. However, in the event of a nontestimonial statement, such as to a confidante or family member, the declarant has no such incentive to lie. Because the declarant is still unavailable to testify in the joint trial, however, the statement must have the inherent indicia of trustworthiness as enumerated in Rule 803 (b). In particular, our courts have provided guidelines on when these statements of codefendants are admissible under 804(b)(3). A statement is admissible against a codefendant under 804(b)(3) when it is sufficiently inculpatory and when it is independently corroborated with consistent with the evidence at trial. Young's

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